THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213222

CASE NO. 2003-GS-22-1030&1031

The State of South Carolina, Respondents.

V.

Jody Lynn Ward, #300644, Appellant.

[FINAL] BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jody Lynn Ward, #300644
Lieber Corr. Inst. E-B-29
P.O. BOX 205
Ridgeville, S.C. 29472
Appellant Pro Se

Other Counsel Of Record:
Attorney General Of South Carolina
Mr. Allan Wilson, Attorney General
P.O. BOX 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211-1549

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1.) Whether the court erred by denying appellant's Motion For New Trial based on After Discovered Evidence S.C.Crim.R 29(b), Motion For Appointment Of Counsel, And Motion For Private Investigative, And expert Funds/Expenses, Under Due Process And Equal Protection Of Law, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV §1, And Ake V. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)?

2.) Whether the court erred by denying appellant's Motion For Reconsideration, And Motion To Arrest of Judgment Of Order denying Motion For New Trial, In a violation of Due Process And Equal Protection of Law, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV §1, And in a violation of Ake V. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985) Since appellant Is a Mental Health Patient, And IT being a Conflict of Interest Within the Clerk of Court's Office, and since the Lieber Mailroom held the Affidavit Of Rondie J. Ward that Clearly supported the Motion For New Trial?

3.) Whether the court erred by denying Motion For New Trial, based on After Discovered Evidence S.C.R.Crim.P Rule 29(b); Motion For Appointment Of Counsel; Motion For Private Investigative and expert Funds/Expenses; Motion For Reconsideration And Motion To Arrest of Judgment that resulted in an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of Law? ;as the abuse of discretion is both error of the rulings and resulting prejudice as well as denial of access of courts just because Appellant is an indigent status and pro se litigant for clerk to misabuse there authority ,and correctional mailroom to hold affidavit?

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

4.) WHETHER THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION AMOUNTING TO AN ERROR OF LAW: BY FAILING TO GRANT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WHICH AMOUNTED TO A DEPRIVATION OF LEGAL RIGHTS OF APPELLANT, BY DENYING HIM FULL ACCESS TO THE COURTS JUST BECAUSE HE IS AN INDIGENT PRO SE LITIGANT, AND MENTAL HEALTH PATIENT, THE RULING WAS AN ERROR AND APPELLANT WAS/DID RESULT IN PREJUDICE TO DENYING MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BASED ON AFTER DISCOVERED EVIDENCE PURSUANT TO S.C.Crim.P. 29 (b), MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL, AND MOTION FOR INVESTIGATIVE, AND EXPERT FUNDS/EXPENSES, UNDER DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW, U.S. CONST. AMEND. XIV §1, IS FOR ALL?

5.) WHETHER APPELLANTS DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION WAS VIOLATED BY COURT DENYING APPELLANTS MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL, MOTION FOR APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL, AND MOTION FOR PRIVATE INVESTIGATIVE, AND EXPERT EXPENSES, WHICH RESULTED IN AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION AND APPELLANT WAS THEREBY PREJUDICE BECAUSE IT WAS CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT WAS SUBMITTED TO SUPPORT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, AND MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE AFFIDAVITS OF APPELLANT, LETTER MICHAEL ABNER, AND SWORN AFFIDAVIT OF RONDIE J. WARD, AND AFFIDAVIT OF ASHTON WARD SUPPORTED NEW TRIAL MOTION U.S CONST. AMEND. XIV §1, IS FOR ALL?

6.) WHETHER THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANT MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION, AND ARREST OF JUDGMENT, DUE TO CONFLICT OF INTEREST WITHIN CLERK OF COURT AND A DENIAL OF ACCESS OF COURT DUE TO INDIGENT MENTAL HEALTH PATIENT WHO CANNOT AFFORD LEGAL COUNSEL AND AFFIDAVIT OF RONDIE J. WARD BEING DENIED TO FILE THAT SAYS "MICHAEL ABNER DID TELL ME THAT HE PAID THEM BOYS TO KILL JODY,"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant (Jody Lynn Ward) was indicted in July 2003 in Georgetown County for the alleged murders of Wilford Brown and Elton Rutledge, Jr.

Appellant proceeded to trial by a jury and Judge on March 15-18, 2004. The Jury ultimately convicted Appellant as indicted and the Honorable Paula H. Thomas sentenced Appellant to two-2 concurrent life sentences. A timely notice of appeal was filed and the appeal was reviewed pursuant to Anders v. California in which the Court of Appeals affirmed the sentences and convictions January 26, 2007 (2007-UP-048). A timely rehearing was filed and rehearing was denied March 22, 2007. Subsequently thereafter Appellant filed a Petition For Writ Of Certiorari. The Petition for certiorari was withdrawn by Appellant June 29, 2007 and the remittitur was thereafter handed down to the circuit court. Appellant filed his first application for post conviction relief ("PCR") July 11, 2007. An evidentiary hearing was convened May 1, 2008. By way of Written Order the Honorable Judge Steven John denied the application.

On May 27, 2008, Appellant submitted a timely Rule 59 (e), SCRPC, Motion to alter/amend judgment. August 6, 2008, Judge John denied the rule 59 (e) motion. A timely notice of appeal was filed and appellant filed for writ of certiorari August 20, 2009, and the remittitur was handed down September 8, 2009.

Appellant filed his second pcr application July 13, 2009 based on "New Rule" of Law, while his first pcr was currently being reviewed on certiorari. Respondent made a Return and Motion to dismiss. A conditional Order Of Dismissal was issued and appellant

made his timely opposition to the dispositive pleading. January 13, 2010 a Final Order was issued granting the respondents motion to dismiss. A timely notice of appeal was filed in the lower court that was ultimately denied and dismissed. The remittitur was handed down about April 1, 2010.

Appellant filed a third pcr application May 4, 2010 based on a New Rule of law. The respondent filed a return and motion to dismiss June 1, 2010. Appellant lodged a timely opposition to the respondent's dispositive pleading June 14, 2010. A conditional order was issued and Appellant lodged a timely opposition to the conditional order. A final order was issued granting the respondent's motion on July 20, 2010. A timely notice of appeal was filed, accompanied with a pro-se petition August 18, 2010. Appellant filed a reply brief, certiorari was ultimately denied August 18, 2011.

Appellant filed a notice of petition for original jurisdiction petition for writ of habeas corpus in South Carolina Supreme court on October 31, 2011. It was ultimately denied on November 16, 2011; to fully exhaust all state remedies. Appellant files a motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence on May, 7, 2012. On July 23, 2012 Rondie J. Ward, Appellants uncle went to the Georgetown County Clerk Of Court To file an affidavit that clearly supported the motion for new trial and paid .50¢ and Clerk Ms. Jennifer M. Lawrence Notarized the affidavit but failed to file it. My uncle Rondie J. ward went and mailed me a copy of the affidavit and the Lieber correctional Institution mailroom held the affidavit due to the contents had to be reviewed and Appellant filed an EMERGENCY STEP 1 GRIEVANCE to get the affidavit,

and while Appellant was waited to get the affidavit approved to be released the Court issued an Order Denying Motion For New Trial, motion for appointment of counsel, and motion for expenses on July 31, 2012. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal dated August 6, 2012. And on August 7, 2012 the appellant filed a motion for reconsideration and/or motion to reconsider order/judgment denying motion for new trial; motion for appointment of counsel and motion for investigative & expert expenses, and while this motion was pending On August 30, 2012 Appellant filed Motion to Arrest of judgment/order denying motion for new trial, motion for appointment of counsel and motion for expenses for expert witness after the discovery of Ms. Jennifer M. Lawrence Georgetown County Clerk of court employee had signed a petition to have Appellants Third Bond hearing denied dated back to September 22, 2002. On September 25, 2012 the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson issued an Order Denying motion to arrest judgment. On September 28, 2012 Appellant wrote to the Georgetown County Clerk's office for the disposition of the motion for reconsideration that was still pending and the Clerk mailed to me On October 3, 2012 order denying arrest of judgment. On October 4, 2012 Appellant files his timely Notice of Appeal with attached orders. This appeal Follows:

ARGUMENT

The Appellant presented After-Discovered Evidence that clearly supported a Motion for New Trial based on After-Discovered Evidence, Appellant submitted a Sworn Affidavit, Sworn Affidavit of Rondie J. Ward, Sworn Affidavit of Ashton J. Ward, and a letter written to his mother from serial killer Michael Abner, Appellant was convicted by jury for two (2) alleged murders that the newly Evidence clearly refute, and since Appellants first jury never heard this Evidence he should have at least been granted an Evidentiary Hearing for oral arguments because he meets the five (5) criteria for after-discovered Evidence that was set by the South Carolina Supreme Court, Therefore the Judge abused his discretion that amounted to resulting prejudice to Appellant the moving party.

INTRODUCTION

The Appellant herein would show the court Record on appeal pages 1 -50 Motion for New Trial based on After - Discovered Evidence, with attached Fortior Exhibits A - F , and Motion for Expenditure of Funds for investigative and expert services, and Motion for Appointment of counsel/indigent funds pursuant to §17-3-10. Appellant filed the motions after a convicted Serial killer wrote a letter to Appellants mother, and after his uncle Rondie J. Ward informed him that Michael Abner did call him on the phone at his residence and did in fact tell him that he being Abner did in fact pay Appellants alleged victims that a jury convicted Of 2-alleged murders. see record on appeal pg. 70-71, and pg. 97-103. The Appellant's uncle went to the clerk of court in Georgetown a total of (5) five times in an effort to file his Sworn Affidavit in my behalf since Im an indigent pro se inmate and also mental Health patient Due to a Conflict of interest the Clerk Ms. Jennifer M. Lawrence, and also Mr. Keith Moore they refused to file the affidavit. see: record on appeal pages 63-120. of all the Rigmarole that Appellant has experienced the mailroom staff at Lieber Corr. Inst. also withheld Appellants Affidavit see: record on Appeal: see pages: 74-76 Sworn Affidavit of

Appellant. It is clear that Appellant's Constitutional Right's to Access of the Court's has been violated in a number of ways and the Judge abused his discretion in denying Motion for New Trial, Motion for Appointment of Counsel, Motion for expenditure of funds for Private Investigative & Expert Funds/witnesses, and Arrest of Judgment Motion, And finally the Court/Clerk's office sent Appellant a copy of order Denying Motion for a reconsideration on October 11, 2012 see: Record on Appeal pages 126-150. Its Clear by the record See: R. on Appeal pages 1-150 as a Whole before it will be fully clear how Appellant has been denied Equal Protection and Due Process under the United States Constitution Amend. XIV § 1 . The Constitution was made for all persons regardless of whether I'm a Mental Health , Indigent inmate with no Funds to hire an Attorney or a Private Investigator. Thats why the Constitution was made to protect all persons Equal. The Record really speaks for itself. I should be Granted an Evidentiary Hearing in the Court of General Sessions for oral Arguments after I have been Granted competent Legal Counsel to be Appointed to represent me for the Hearing, thats how I have been Prejudiced to the extent that Abuse of Discretion, amounting to an error of law. As the Courts rulings was prejudicial and a Denial of Appellants Access of the Courts and a Denial of Due Process and Equal Protection of Law that should be afforded to all. *And after Private Investigator been appointed.*

DISCUSSION

A motion made on the ground of after discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and a denial of the motion will not be overturned on appeal unless an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of Law is sworn. See: Bettis V. Busbee, 283 S.C. 502, 323 S.E. 2d 536 (Ct. App. 1984).

AFTER DISCOVERED EVIDENCE: In order to be entitled to a new trial on the ground of after discovered evidence, the movant is required to demonstrate that the evidence:

- 1.) is such that it will probably change the result if a new trial is granted;
- 2.) was discovered after trial;
- 3.) could not have been discovered before trial by exercise of due diligence;
- 4.) is material to the issue; and
- 5.) is not impeaching or merely cumulative.

Now Appellant has covered all 5 prongs because Michael Abner never started admitted to crimes that he committed until after he was arrested for the Murder of Jack Roerink 79, in the state of Kentucky See: Record on appeal pg. 22-24.

Appellant submits that the letter he wrote to his mother and the admitting that he paid Appellants 2 alleged victims to kill Appellant See: Sworn Affidavit of Rondie J. Ward record on appeal pg. 70-71; and 97-103 It is clear that an Evidentiary hearing should have been granted as a matter of law.

Abate v. Abate, 377 S.C. 548 (App. 2008), 660 S.E.2d 515

APEAL AND ERROR ~~Can~~ 946

The term "abuse of discretion" does not reflect negatively on the trial court: rather, it merely indicates the appellate court believes an error of law occurred in the circumstances at hand.

Burroughs v. Worsham, 574 S.E. 2d 215, 352 S.C. 382
Dearybury v. Dearybury, 569 S.E. 2d 367, 351 S.C. 278
Clark v. Cantrell, 529 S.E. 2d 528, 339 S.C. 369
Fontaine v. Peitz, 354 S.E. 2d 565, 291 S.C. 536
Stewart v. Floyd, 265 S.E. 2d 254, 274 S.C. 437
Eubank v. Eubank, 555 S.E. 2d 413, 347 S.C. 367
Hill v. Dotts, 547 S.E. 2d 894, 345 S.C. 304
State v. Commander, 396 S.C. 254, 721 S.E. 2d 413 (2011)
State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 477-78, 716 S.E. 2d 91, 93 (2011)
(citation omitted)

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing this Court should Grant Appellants Motion For New Trial based on after Discovered evidenc Motion For Appointment of counsel, Motion For expenses, and/or Remand the case back to General Sessions Court for Evidentiary Hearing for Oral Arguments. Or Grant a New Trial this this matter.