STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

SEP 23 2013

---

Appeal from Georgetown County  
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2012-213222

---

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

JODY LYNN WARD,

Appellant

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON  
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit  
P. O. Drawer 1276  
Conway, SC 29523  
(843) 915-5460

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

(ii) a factual predicate that could not have been previously discovered through the exercise of due diligence; and

**(B) the facts underlying the claim would be sufficient to establish by clear and convincing evidence that but for constitutional error, no reasonable factfinder would have found the applicant guilty of the underlying offense.**

(Emphasis added). As the majority of the United States Supreme Court explained in *Cullen v. Pinholster*, 131 S.Ct. 1388, 140 (2011):

Although state prisoners may sometimes submit new evidence in federal court, AEDPA's statutory scheme is designed to strongly discourage them from doing so. Provisions like [28 U.S.C.] §§ 2254(d)(1) and (e)(2) ensure that "[f]ederal courts sitting in habeas are not an alternative forum for trying facts and issues which a prisoner made insufficient effort to pursue in state proceedings."

<sup>6</sup> See <http://kool.corrections.ky.gov/KOOL/Details/83679>.

had interviewed Abner before the trial “and at that time [Abner] denied having any involvement in the case.” **R. pp. 43.**

Ward further averred that following Abner’s January 2010 arrest in Kentucky, Abner admitted to two murders that occurred in the 1980s; that Ward was contacted by his son, Ashton J. Ward “[o]n or about October 2011[,]” and his son informed Ward that Abner had written a letter to Ward’s mother, Lynn Ward. Lynn Ward, in turn, called his son. His son thereafter retrieved the letter, opened it and “forwarded a copy to me.” Also, Ward averred that his uncle, Rondie J. Ward, supposedly had a telephone conversation with Abner, at some unspecified time, in which Abner admitted to paying the victims to kill Ward. **R. pp. 43.**

Ward argued that he was entitled to a new trial based upon the purported letter from Abner to Ward’s mother because Abner supposedly claimed to have hired the victims in this case to kill Ward. **R. pp. 5. See also R. pp. 15-16 (Abner’s letter).** Ward claimed that this evidence was discovered on or about October 2011 and that it could not have been discovered before trial by exercise of due diligence, since Abner did not begin admitting that he is a serial killer until January 12, 2010.

In the July 31, 2012 Order denying the motion, the circuit court judge found that “the letter [from Abner] referenced by [Ward] in his motion and attached as an exhibit thereto makes no such admission and [Ward] has not presented anything to corroborate such an admission.” The circuit court judge further found that “[Ward] has not only failed to establish that he has new evidence that will probably change the result of his convictions if a new trial is granted, he has failed to show even the existence of newly discovered evidence. Therefore, [Ward’s] motion for a new trial should be denied.” **R. pp. 109-110.** Finally, the circuit court judge found that Ward’s remaining motions were moot because he had denied the new trial motion. **R. pp. 110.**

**A. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for new trial on after-discovered evidence.**

In *State v. Spann*, 334 S.C. 618, 619-20, 513 S.E.2d 98, 99 (1999), the Supreme Court held that:

In order to prevail in this new trial motion, appellant must show the after-discovered evidence:

- (1) is such that it would probably change the result if a new trial were granted;
- (2) has been discovered since the trial;
- (3) could not in the exercise of due diligence have been discovered prior to the trial;
- (4) is material; and
- (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

(Citing *State v. Prince*, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 177 (1993)). See also *Mercer*, 381 S.C. at 166, 672 S.E.2d at 565; *State v. Needs*, 333 S.C. 134, 157-58, 508 S.E.2d 857, 869 (1998); *Johnson v. Catoe*, 345 S.C. 389, 393 & n. 1, 548 S.E.2d 587, 589 & n. 1 (2001).

This Court discussed motions file pursuant to Rule 29, SCRCrim.P, in *State v. Harris*, 391 S.C. 539, 545, 706 S.E.2d 526, 529 (Ct.App. 2011):

“A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must be made within a reasonable period of time after the discovery of the evidence ....” Rule 29(b), SCRCrimP. “A motion for a new trial based on after-discovered evidence is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *State v. Irvin*, 270 S.C. 539, 545, 243 S.E.2d 195, 197 (1978). “The granting of a new trial because of after-discovered evidence is not favored,” and this court will affirm the trial court's denial of such a motion unless the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* at 545, 243 S.E.2d at 197–98.

The credibility of newly-discovered evidence is for the trial court to determine. *State v. Porter*, 269 S.C. 618, 621, 239 S.E.2d 641, 643 (1977). Only the trial court and not the appellate court has the power to weigh the evidence; the trial court's judgment will not be disturbed except for error of law or abuse of discretion. *Id.* “In this post-trial setting, our jurisprudence recognizes the gatekeeping role of the trial court in making a credibility assessment.” *State v. Mercer*, 381 S.C. 149, 166, 672 S.E.2d 556, 565 (2009). “On review, we may not make our own findings of fact. The deferential standard of review constrains us to affirm the trial court if reasonably supported by the evidence.” *Id.*

Respondent submits that Ward cannot show an abuse of discretion. *Id.* First, there is no corroborating proof that the letter was written by Abner. There is merely an envelope, bearing a Kentucky postmark and with Abner's name and address on it. The letter, itself, is merely signed "Michael." Although the letter states that the author would do anything in his power to help Ward and to "right a wrong," Respondent submits that it would make little sense that Abner is truly the author because Ward admits that Abner had previously stabbed him.<sup>7</sup>

Further, Ward's construction of the letter makes even less sense in light of the three murders for which Abner was convicted in Kentucky. He did not hire anyone to kill those three victims. He personally killed them. At the very least, the fact Abner is serving a sentence of life without in Kentucky and has nothing to lose by admitting culpability in this case, so that Ward can escape justice as his appeals are about to run out, undermines the credibility of the letter and Ward's construction of it. *Accord Mercer*, 381 S.C. at 167-70, 672 S.E.2d at 565-67 (capital murder defendant was not entitled to new trial based on after-discovered evidence based on prison informant's testimony that defendant's accomplice admitted being the triggerman; accomplice's participation in, and first-hand knowledge of, the crime, was known to defendant and the State from the beginning, the prison informant had extensive criminal history, the prison informant had given varying versions as to the timing and the substance of accomplice's alleged confession, and the alleged confession conflicted with known facts regarding the crime).

Moreover, and as the circuit court correctly found, the letter allegedly from Michael Abner does not admit to hiring the victims to kill Ward. To the contrary, in the unsworn, October 16, 2011, letter, "Michael" states that he is trying to do "everything in my power to help Jody" for the benefit of Ward's son Ashton and "the girls." The author then complains because his mail is being delayed because it is being read by "INTERNAL AFFAIRS." He further states that "[i]t

---

<sup>7</sup> Additionally, Ward admits that counsel had spoken to Abner before trial and he denied involvement. Also, the Appendix to Ward's first Petition for Writ of Certiorari reflects counsel had listed Abner as a potential defense witness. **Supp.R. p. 2.**

seems like **the FBI thinks I have killed in more states than this** so they go through all going out mail and all coming in mail I get.” **R. pp. 15.** (Emphasis added).

On the following page, “Michael” states that prison officials “shook me down my cell,” as soon as he got an affidavit from Ashton Ward. He further indicates that he told the truth when questioned by authorities and that he “was trying to make a wrong right.” Then, he asked her to send another affidavit, which he would have his caseworker notarize. **R. pp. 16.** Ward did not submit any affidavit from Abner.

Thus, the circuit court correctly found that Ward did not establish that he has new evidence that will probably change the result of his convictions if a new trial is granted, or even that he has “newly discovered evidence” because Abner’s letter is vague as to what he will allegedly say and does not even expressly mention this case or the two victims, whatsoever. Ward submitted absolutely nothing with the new trial motion to corroborate his favorable construction of the letter, apart from his own, self-serving affidavit.

Also, Respondent would note that the circuit court judge had presided over two of Ward’s previous PCR cases: 09-CP-22-915 and 2010-CP-22-00733 (in which he asserted that he was entitled to a new trial under *Belcher*). Thus, the circuit court judge was familiar with the record, which included overwhelming evidence of Ward’s guilt. In the original Order of Dismissal, the PCR judge summarized that evidence:

The evidence of overwhelming guilt of murder includes, but is not limited to, the following: [Ward’s] confessions to Denise Cox that he planned to kill the victims [**Supp.R. p. 3-6**] - then, later, that he did in fact kill them [**Supp.R. p. 7-9; 16-18**] (Ms. Cox gave this statement to police shortly after [Ward’s] arrest) [**Supp.R. p. 20-22**]; statements from various witnesses who heard [Ward] “brag” that he got rid of the boys who took his money [**Supp.R. p. 27-28; 48-49**]; evidence that [Ward] asked Kevin Cooper to purchase bullets for him in advance [**Supp.R. p. 27**]; evidence that the gun [Ward] had been seen with on numerous occasions was consistent with the gun that shot the victims [**Supp.R. p. 9-12; 13-15; 33-35**]; the pathologist testimony indicating that one of the victims was shot in the back of the head [**Supp.R. p.72-79**]; evidence that [Ward] was the only person who moved the victims’ remains [**Supp.R. p. 36-57**]; evidence of the baby-seat still strapped

in the backseat of the Suzuki [**Supp.R. p. 29-30; 31-32; State's Exhibit 24-25 (photographs)**]; and evidence that Brian Elliott was at home on the day of the incident. [**Supp.R. p. 78-84**]. Internal inconsistencies in [Ward's] own statement, in addition to its conflicts with the other evidence in the case, also tended to point towards his guilt.

**Supp.R. p. 89 n. 2** (“**Supp.R.**” citations added).

Additionally, Louis Blazen testified that Ward had him drive to a location where Ward buried something in a burlap bag. When they later passed this same location, Blazen saw buzzards and Ward mentioned that “the boys” were in that area. Police subsequently went to this location and found portions of the remains of two people and a burlap bag, using cadaver dogs. Also, there was evidence presented that Ward had threatened Cox subsequent to his confessions to her. **Supp.R. p. 17-19; 23; 24; 25-26;; 36-57; 58-68; 69-72.**

The unsworn, uncorroborated letter from Abner - assuming both that he wrote it and that it can properly be considered as “evidence”<sup>8</sup> - does not impact this other evidence showing Ward's guilt, at all. Thus, it cannot be “such that it would probably change the result if a new trial were granted” under *Spann*. Also, although Ward received a self-defense instruction at trial (*see Supp.R. p. 85-88*), he did not testify and he cannot show how this letter, standing alone, bolstered his claim of self-defense.

In connection with his “motion for reconsideration and/or motion to reconsider order/judgment denying motion for new trial” dated August 7, 2012 (**R. pp. 63**), Ward provided affidavits from family members Rondie J. Ward and Carol S. Ward as to telephone conversations that they allegedly had with Abner, wherein Abner admitted that he had hired the victims in this case to kill Ward. **R. pp. 63-64**. However, the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to consider the additional filings because it is undisputed by Ward that he served and filed a notice of appeal on August 6, 2012, which was the day before he mailed the motion with these affidavits.

---

<sup>8</sup> *See Com. v. Hayward*, 437 Pa. 215, 263 A.2d 330 (1970) (affidavits of witnesses whose identities were known at trial are not after-discovered evidence); *Com. v. Johnson*, 228 Pa. Superior Ct. 364, 323 A.2d 295 (1974).

Pursuant to Rule 205, SCACR, the service of a notice of appeal gives the appellate court exclusive jurisdiction over the appeal.” Although Rule 205 further provides that the circuit court may proceed “with matters not affected by the appeal,” there was nothing for the circuit court to act upon at the time Ward served and filed the notice of appeal. Thus, the circuit court lacked jurisdiction over the belated filings.<sup>9</sup> See *Bunkum v. Manor Properties*, 321 S.C. 95, 98-99, 467 S.E.2d 758, 760 (Ct.App. 1996) (“The appellate court retained jurisdiction of the case until the remittitur was issued and the proceedings were returned to the circuit court. .... At that point, the circuit court re-acquired subject matter jurisdiction to enforce the judgment and take any action consistent with the appellate court's ruling”); *Hampton Bldg. Supply, Inc. v. Wilson*, 285 S.C. 135, 138, 328 S.E.2d 635, 636 (1985) (“We hold the trial judge was without jurisdiction to modify his March 2, 1982 order after FHA's appeal on March 9 to the Supreme Court, or to issue any order subsequent to the April 30, 1982 dismissal of FHA's appeal to the Supreme Court”). *Accord Raby Const., L.L.P. v. Orr*, 358 S.C. 10, 13, 594 S.E.2d 478, 480 (2004) (restaurant

---

<sup>9</sup> Respondent would further note that his motion for arrest of judgment was not an appropriate motion for further reconsideration of the Order denying relief. This Court has explained that:

A ‘motion for arrest of judgment’ is a postverdict motion made to prevent the entry of a judgment where the charging document is insufficient or the court lacked jurisdiction to try the matter.” *State v. Taylor*, 348 S.C. 152, 160, 558 S.E.2d 917, 920-21 (Ct.App.2001) ( cert. granted May 30, 2002, [aff'd as mod., 355 S.C. 392, 585 S.E.2d 303 (2003) (finding state had not preserved this argument on appeal)]). A defendant may make a motion for arrest of judgment alleging an insufficiency of the indictment. *Id.*; see also *State v. Brown*, 201 S.C. 417, 23 S.E.2d 381 (1942) (holding motion for arrest of judgment should have been granted where trial court did not have jurisdiction to impose the sentence); *State v. Jeter*, 47 S.C. 2, 24 S.E. 889 (1896) (concluding it was error for trial court to deny motion for arrest of judgment where indictment was insufficient). However, the defendant may not move for a verdict in arrest of judgment based on the insufficiency of the evidence to support the charges in the indictment. *Taylor*, 348 S.C. at 160, 558 S.E.2d at 921; see also *State v. Miller*, 287 S.C. 280, 286, 337 S.E.2d 883, 886-87 (1985) (Ness, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (stating a defendant “may not move for verdict in arrest of judgment based on the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the allegations in the indictment.”) (emphasis in original) (citation omitted). “[W]hen ruling on a motion in arrest of judgment, the trial court is limited to rectifying trial errors, and cannot make a redetermination of the credibility and weight of the evidence.” 21 Am.Jur.2d *Criminal Law* § 785 (1998); see also *Taylor*, 348 S.C. at 160, 558 S.E.2d at 921.

*State v. Follin*, 352 S.C. 235, 259-60, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824-25 (Ct.App. 2002), *reh. den.*, Dec 19, 2002, *cert. den.*, May 30, 2003. Ward's motion for a new trial does not involve either a challenge to sufficiency of the indictment or to the circuit court's jurisdiction. It, therefore, was not a proper mechanism for the circuit court to further consider his motion for a new trial.

owner's filing of notice of appeal from the denial of his motion for relief from judgment, in construction company's action to foreclose a mechanics' lien, did not deprive trial court of jurisdiction to award additional attorney fees to construction company pursuant to an earlier foreclosure order; appeal stayed only the matters addressed in the order appealed from, and owner did not appeal the foreclosure order); *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 311, 486 S.E.2d 750, 761 (1997) (“Although service of notice of an intent to appeal divests the lower court of jurisdiction over the order appealed, the lower court retains jurisdiction over matters not affected by the appeal”).

On appeal, Ward contends that the Georgetown County Clerk of Court refused to file the affidavit of his uncle, Rondie J. Ward, although Rondie Ward supposedly attempted to get the Clerk to accept it for filing. This argument was not timely presented to and passed upon by the circuit court because Rondie Ward’s affidavit was not submitted until after service and filing of the notice of appeal and the circuit court no longer had jurisdiction over the case. See *Bunkum*, 321 S.C. at 98-99, 467 S.E.2d at 760; *Hampton Bldg. Supply, Inc.*, 285 S.C. at 138, 328 S.E.2d at 636; *cf. State v. Simmons*, 384 S.C. 145, 171-72, 682 S.E.2d 19, 32-33 (Ct.App. 2009) (the Court found unpreserved Simmons' appellate argument that the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial in response to testimony of a witness referencing the robber as “the defendant,” where Simmons failed to make a timely objection in response to the witness's statement); *Doe v. S.B.M.*, 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 880 (Ct.App.1997) (“[t]he duty is on the litigant to make a timely objection in order to preserve the right to review ... [and] ... [a] contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review”); *In re Michael H.*, 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004) (“In order to preserve an issue for appeal, it must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court”); *State v. Neeley*, 271 S.C. 33, 244 S.E.2d 522 (1978) (appellant's failure to object to the court's failure to admonish the jury that they were not to

deliberate until all of the evidence had been introduced precluded consideration of the issue on appeal).

Further, a “presumption of regularity’ supports official acts of public officers. In the absence of clear evidence to the contrary, the doctrine presumes that public officers have properly discharged their official duties.” *Bernklau v. Principi*, 291 F.3d 795, 801 (Fed.Cir. 2002) (citing *Butler v. Principi*, 244 F.3d 1337, 1340 (Fed. Cir. 2001)). *see also United States v. Chem. Found.*, 272 U.S. 1, 14–15 (1926) (“The presumption of regularity supports the official acts of public officers, and, in the absence of clear evidence to the contrary, courts presume that they have properly discharged their official duties”); *Jefferson v. Hart*, 84 F.3d 1314, 1315 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996) (“The clerk of court entered a minute order dated January 6, 1995 “upon direction by the court” denying that motion as moot. II R. doc. 32. This order, although signed by the clerk, was authorized by the court and is entitled to a presumption of regularity”); *Chuen Piu Kwong v. Holder*, 671 F.3d 872, 879-80 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011) (“When prepared by the court clerk, at or near the time of judgment, as part of his or her official duty, [an abstract] is cloaked with a presumption of regularity and reliability....”). The “presumption of regularity” has long been recognized in South Carolina. *E.g.*, *State v. Bultron*, 318 S.C. 323, 329, 457 S.E.2d 616, 619 (Ct.App. 1995) (citing *Pringle v. State*, 287 S.C. 409, 339 S.E.2d 127 (1986)); *State v. Mason*, 126 S.C. 426, \_\_\_, 120 S.E. 367, 368 (1923); *State v. Waring*, 109 S.C. 52, \_\_\_, 95 S.E. 143, 144 (1918) (proceedings of court of sessions, which is a court of general jurisdiction, are presumably regular; and it will be presumed that clerk of court of sessions, when reading a manslaughter verdict, properly asked jury if it was their verdict); *Petrelle v. Weirton Steel Corp.*, 953 F.2d 148, 153 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991); *Riggins v. Norris*, 238 F.3d 954 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (although there was no evidence presented during the state PCR evidentiary hearing to contradict petitioner’s testimony that trial counsel failed to convey to him a favorable plea bargain offer, the state trial court was

entitled to disbelieve petitioner's self-serving testimony, and those self-serving statements were insufficient to overcome the presumption of regularity accorded state convictions or to warrant conclusion that the state findings were based on an unreasonable determination of the evidence, so as to warrant federal habeas relief).

In the present case, Ward cannot overcome the presumption of regularity by his self-serving claims. In this regard, Respondent would point out that Rondie Ward's affidavit does not make any averment that the Clerk refused to permit Ward to file the affidavit. *Id.*<sup>10</sup> Additionally, Ward's remaining challenge to the Clerk of Court's alleged inaction (a supposed conflict of interest) and his challenges to the circuit court's rulings on his remaining motions are not properly before the Court because Ward did not submit them before he deprived the circuit court of jurisdiction by serving and filing his notice of appeal. *See* Rule 205, SCACR; *Bunkum*, 321 S.C. at 98-99, 467 S.E.2d at 760; *Hampton Bldg. Supply, Inc.*, 285 S.C. at 138, 328 S.E.2d at 636.

**B. Ward's Motion for Appointment of Counsel and Motion for Expenses were moot after denial of his new trial motion.**

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